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~>

sistant Manager of Hotel moruu ‘

BY THE COURT: |

Q Waere do you reside? A ot
Q What is your business at m

Q@ WVere you employed in ﬁ'*
‘ Y." m' i6

Q The Hotel Imperial is

Broadway. ’
Q That is within the county of New ¥

Q Who owns the Hotel mu&! , 4

MR. HOLBERT: I object as

is not competent to prove om‘}p -O

!hq 'cannot prove .omcrnhtp in that m&.

Q@ What is your occupation? me‘t‘t mfo
BY MR. WASSERVOGEL: ‘ ' S

Q Wio employed you in the month of July, 1905
A Mrs. Robert Stafford. ok

Q@ That is Mrs. Jennie E. um«i’ - A Jennie K.

Q She was the proprietor of the hotel? A The p
at that time. |

Objected to as incompetent, immaterial.



Q hmhuvmtw 5 Yes.
Q B“nnuﬂ“‘wd’mu...
versation with him at the hotel? A M

Q Tell the court and jury what the t‘
what you said and what he seid? A He a

have $50 on a check.

Q 1 show you a paper and I ask
A

was shown to you at that t;-i?

A As the check, yes.

‘The psporv is marked m

Exhibit 1. ek
BY MR. usmvmn:

check.
Q Was the $50 paid to him? A Yes, sir.
The check is offered in evidence,

e People's Exhibit 1.

‘.yo :
Q@ In vhat bank was it «yeﬂﬂ AN

i



Q Did you deposit the check a
Q Your testimony on that point is s
people say?
is from the mmxm fact that tho m

just what you heard omr‘

Q The bank renser® A Ye
Q How long huo.yéu WMM the
A 19 years. 4 ' | i
Q You say you are u'l"uu, Nrs. m
A Yes. | 4 .

Q@ You know, do you not, as matter of tw.‘ ; at
4‘ | Eotel Imperial is owned by the Qohn Starford |
: The hotel is owned by the Robert Goelet omm.v M it %
ed by Mrs. Stafford. The hotel is run by Mrs. mwt. :

Q As an individual? A As an individusl. A
! Q How long heve you known Mr. Julian? A Between ”
and 12 years I should imagine. _ ‘
Q During that period of time, did Mr. m m’
ings with the Eotel Imperial? A Ke had an

Ke was a patron of the hotel.




to this == prior to the time ‘

Q oprior to 19059 A !m

Q@ You knew him well, pers

Q During all the eight or nine

in cash or on credit?
' Objected to ll.i“tw
TEE COURT: s th
'MR. HOLBERT: To &ho

time but ever since have so
THE COURT: Do you
., T—
TEE COURT: T sustad
;ﬁoiptioﬁ. i
BY MR. HOLBERT:
Q Did Mr. Julian, at
with the hotAel?
Obj ccted to.
THE COURT: At 1
MR. HOLBERT:
THE COURT: I

/'R B



R Eight or tea? 4 lou.'{t |
that =-- quite a._nmbor of ynraa
Q To what aiount would this 8608
A A1l the way from $30 to
that. c g

@ Was this check, the Cuba udb
tho only cbeck that Mr. le had W

A Yo, he has cuhcd unrsl mu:-.
Q Ead he ever onlhod other Cuba m

at the hotel? A I think ﬂnrl wa.s one or

Q Were they paid? A !’oto
Q When they went through?
Objected to as immaterial. mrum.

A Yes.

Julian on the Cuba Supply Company for M. * ﬂ

A I don't remember that, no.



Q Mr. Julian at this time had &
yourself? A Wot with me. v | &

Q Waat I mean is this, luhi
you, that 1s that you took mm
mcnt on him as I do yrohtw»,

Q I will put my question e
prior to this t".me Mr. Julian li.ltg N

edge, frequerntly procured money from “

mere I.O.U ? A I think 80, yes,== in !’M
Q And on this particular day, wh
check, he could have procured that *
naked I. 0. U.?
Objected to. Sustained and exo
*] I will put it in a differeat tm "
cashing this Cuba Supply Company dhm, M"
credit to the name of the Cuba Supply
Julian?
MR. VASSERVOGEL: I objeoct;

there was any credit extended.



he was not misled in loaning this

Objected to. Objection

placed it on his account.
Q 4And sent him a notlce & it? i m

nvaul notices sent -~ 1! fact

Q- D:I.d you, at any tiu, ter this c
you and sent through and marked r&tmo‘ .
at any time that Mr. Julian had robbol you m'
e nny way?

E Objected to. Sustained -ndmnptim
Q Did you at any time, or to any person, make

plaint of this transaction?
Objected to. Sustained and mlptiq; _ ,
Q Did you at any time a@oun Mr. Julian of lm
swindled or rocbbed the Hotel Imperial or yowﬁw. |
Objected to. Sustained and exceptions. |
Q Are you the complainant in this action? o
MR. WASSERVOGEL: I object; the record speal

itself.



o g

TR A

b
B

do you mean by that? A Well, to 0.K., ®
give him ‘500

Q You did place on it o.k., with your

believe 7 did. I simply pnnu it in te ﬂi
him to give Mr. Julian $50.

Q@ You say you did or did not - o.hﬁ ﬁ

on the ohock for all 1 kno' -- u wﬂl N"
would be on the back. '"m
Q fThen you puud it to Mr. M
and it has been carried on the u.ccouut ever
it was returned from the bank for the um
Q You say he has been sent monthi: st
covering this account, and he mr sent such ﬂ
during the months of Augunt, lcptcab‘r. MM,
December of that year -- the remainder of the ;mﬂ
Objected to. Objection onrrnh'l.,' |
A There was a statement sent Mr. Julian to u«-m "

the first of every month.

to examine the paper I hand you and state to
jury whether or not that is & statement of ti

Julian with your hotel as it appeared on the |




to. This question calls for

that occurred after 'opt-onhr,' f‘,]'
MR. HOLBERT: It appears on the

THE COURT:

You may show anyt
time -- the 20th of July, 3‘”‘*‘
that I will anot receive.

JR. HOLBIRT: I have an &

thing that occurred following f

i

reference to the prﬂéﬂ.ﬂ' ran

come into evidence. I will call M at

case. It is d:l.rbctly in point, on m

question. The case of the Pecple mﬂ l
Appellate Divioion-, page 604«. '

THE COURT: Have you the case? ;

MR. HOLBERT: I have not the mwmm k

have a statement of it. :

THE COURT: I will send for the case.

the facts. ' |

(The question is rlﬁnm') ’

MR. VWASSERVOGEL: I object.

THE COURT: I sustain the objec

: Exceptione.

—
-



e,

Q I will ask you if the
have in hand, which jou ﬁnwo heret
of the accbunt between the Hotel
Julian -~ T will ask you if th#&'?
it the charge of this item $50 on & :
Objected to, sustained and
Q I will uk you to state u
Imperiul hawe been -a-m&unt> 
uloortuin ihoth.r on the bodhi»'
appears as a charge qgninst Ir‘
Objected to. Sustained nnl ,
Q You have already tutus;u m
Mr. Julian had frequently had a rmw
for vhat periods of time m\ﬂlm
20th day of July, 1905 -- how mn
run before being settled up? A
months -~ possibly longer than ﬁhlld:
Q@ In o.k'ing this account of J
yourself personally liable for it u
the Hotel Imperial?
Objected to. BSustal
Q Have you as an indiw
Imperial ever at any time %2
as anything but a simple m

Objected to.

ol 3 g R



next hear fran anybody with
anybody? | ;
¥R, WASSERVOCEL: T object

from anybody. Let him be more

THR COURT: If he wants 4t
THE WITNRES: Well, it wae
Q Who did you hear from with
A M¥r. McCabe. :
Q Do you know vhat his 1
Q Do you know what position
A T umderstood he was connected ﬁh
Reilroad.

Q As their attorney? - A

about this check? A
0 Can you see him plainly?®
YR, WASSERVOGEL: Hlﬂ.
back f rom the bank marked &
THE COURT:

MR, FOLBRERT:




to court to brm th.chookm!am

to start a proceeding mhst hnu 1

'uutr done,

THE COURT: Put another guestion.

now unanswered.

BY ¥R, HOLBERT: e
Q When did you nmmmm"m
‘wisit or hear nu.vthlng abm 1“,

- | WR. WASSERVOGEL: T object.
| THE COURT: If that be the purpose &s Ol
counsel for the a.fma-m: I will sustain &l
MR, HOLBERT: That is the purposs. bl
b THE COURT: Anything connected ruam
permit you to go into -~ anything he did or tﬂl :
ence to it, but wvhat somebody else may have done or
no relevancy, as I view it, to the mccusation here,

Bxc eption.

BY ¥R, HOLBERT:

Q Along in March ~r April 1906, you were dm .
in & John Doe proceeding, were you not, and Nm ﬂ
with you under that subpoena this check before



counsel, of the imquiry, T take it it is %
1 YR. HOLBWRT: The same thing,

THE COURT: 1 sustain the objeetion.

Exception, ;
- ¥R, FOIBERT: I merely want “ “ W
L ' or émrso there is no need to urge upon ﬁt'
| we also nek to'hn ﬂut !r.mal

. it as a simple debt =~ i

THE m‘:: 1 4o not care Mh tr

is what was done on this day.
Exception,

BY MR, HOLBERT: %

Q You d4id attend proceedings before

which L. E. Julian and the People of the State were plals
in a John Noe proceeding == in which hh Doe mtﬁ &
def endant?
Objected to. Sustained, Hxeception,

Q Vere you complainant in M M&m :
: Vagistrate Wahle?

Objected to. mmm
Q Were you complainant in that



PRANCT S ., vIGGINE
CROSS EXAVTVATTON CONTINUED BY MR 1

Q On the day you cashed M check
understand you he merely cmtt ih 7
standing and presented a check and ﬂ‘ '-.:f”
450 on this"® A Something %o that

Q was there anything else sald Wm

time? A T don't remember, no,

Q Did ¥r. Julian at that wj mm ‘

concerning the check?
| WR, WASERRVOGEL: I
iteelr., ,
Objection ovmﬂllc».(




‘acter or standing of the Cuba
check was drawn? A Yo,

Q Had he at any time m- “ L
sentation to you or said sything 0 |

think so. Tt would not interest m x
& Wy wulin's it insirees il

BY THE COURT:
Q The gquestion is was

A Yo, not to my knwhm.
MR, HOIBRFRT: I would like to ”

it would not interest hh. , v

WR. WASSERVOGEL: 1 object. M :

with the witness. ‘

Objection sustained. : I_nooptlﬂa‘..

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, WASSERVOGEL:

Q What hour was this that Julian came to th

in answer to questions of WM n
VR, HIDLBERT: What acoount was that?



BY VR, WASSERVOGHL:

Q Small ones, $1.25 and $1:80, it

A TLarge amounts too,. ;
WR., IDIBERT: T object as not
¥R, WASSERVOGEL: I um

BY MR, WASSERVOGEL:

Q What was the last item prior to Ju
WR, HOLBERT: T object as not

The account is the best evidence.
. THE URT: T think in view of y¢
I will take it, A
R, HOLBFRT: T except.
THE VI'ZNRSS: 1 think it is in
BY MR, WASSERVOGEL: g e
Q August of the prtoi- mm *
of the check returned "No good" ? ‘

Q@ And you have no separate M

what we call the petit ledger.
Q@ In making an entry of m
keep a record of it, is that cor
Q Did you ever send the

check ocame back no good? A._.



Q Have you seen him at any time after t

RE-CROSS EXANINATION BY MR, ol
| Q Have you in your pos session aw‘
I handed you before adjournment? A I |
have not, Ceaie

Q Mr. Vasservorel uinl ¥ " w ~
of a 1ot of small items -~ u it

oﬁm- item of #22,10 on this aewmf! ,‘ t

Q It is one item $22.10? |
¥R, noi.nm: In connection with t
examination and cross ezuimtm :
of the adcount about 'hinhm lwn M‘
THE COURT: 1Is it objected to? ﬁ
MR, WASSERVOGEL: T object. e
Objection eustained, hmm ‘

BY MR, HOLBFRT:

Q Is it objected to on the .‘“ u ”
iteelf. If so I will produce the m
rm. WASEERWOGE L: It "
MR. HOLBERT: Does your

it is not the b.lt'ﬂwl



¥R, HOLERRT: All right then,

produce the original,

JOEN B, RIEBGER,
. of the People, atﬂml.
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, WAS

Q Where do you ﬁnv h
Q What is your occupation? i :
teller Cammercial Trust Company. i
o On‘July 20, 1905, where were you emp
A Note teller of the New Amsterdem 1 1
Q Did you ever ses this paper marked
A Yes. | : i o ,
Q When? A That firet ceme into my pos
July 21st. Tt was deposited with our bamk ane
me, to my depariment, bytht rumugmw.
Q What was done with ﬂuw A The

to my downtown messenger the next morning,
Q What was the name of the w A
pile.



Q Paid or unpaid? A m
- ¥o cross mmttu.

PRANK J. PORCUPILE,
behalf of the People, being @
tuuﬂodﬂﬁm

Q Tn the month of July mmm
A Nn-hltaran National Bank. s
Q As what? ‘A Iomor
Q Bank messenger? A Bank lnm

\ ‘ Q VWhat if anything d1d you do with this paper

i Bxhibit 1 at thattime? A What is that.
'; (The question is repeated). _ ‘
A Tt was given to me for qaumualw the m

Mr. Rieger and with other .atters downtown and I m :
pro'nntod it at 136 ===

YR, HOLBERT: We objectto the um m




Q What aid you do with the
1t for collection.
BY MR, WASSRRVOGRL:

1 e Q Where? A AroomT ﬁm
b " Broadway.
Q mn-arﬂ« m w a

Objection overruled.

Q Do you rooan whon vou m there? l*«'

the name of Julian, as T understood, and & man
Judon, |
Q Vhat was sald there at that time?
BY THE COURT: ;
QR 1Ie that the defendant W
YR, HOLBERT: T object unless it u m'

MR, WABEERVOGEL: 1T “*‘* to ‘m%



presented it fo:' pm'at, and “ 1

whatever occurred there at mvt

YR, FOLEERT:  The ground of

thnf a declaration by a third pi

= ~of the defendant would not “
BY THE COURT:

@ Was the defendant at ﬂ.w

('fho defendant

- ' MVITN]SB:

BY THE COURT:

Q He was there at that tlm? %)

Q VNow you may state anything W

and presence.

BY MR, WASSERVOCEL:
Q Tell us mything that was ilﬂm

presented the check for payment ﬁﬁ - the
that he had no account, T marked -
check and at the same time 1 left |
that the check would go to prﬂm;
time, |

BY VR, WASSRRVOGEL:



mn1mmmtnnw _
tlr. qurnm reads uu

CROSS mmmon BY MR, HOLBERT:
Q Were you acquuntod with lr.,

A Yot a ny further than in a business m |

Q Wnat? A Mot any'further than i&nlf"'
Q How long .hlvo you known him u”
have been thefe a number of tmm o

Q Been whgro? y | At m

Juliu, the defendant in this case -- did you

e

sonally? A No, sir,

Q Had you ‘ever seé him prior to me' time you

fupply Company to present this check for payment, to your

.

" knowledge? A Yes, I presume I have,

Q What? A T have,

Q Where? A At the puba Supply COmpany.

Q When? A Well, I cmlﬁn't tell you -- 1 was thﬂl
number of timee fc;r collections on different olum.

Q You saw Mr, Julian at tho office of tho Cuba m
Company on those partlcuhr times? A Perhaps ut m ' f

T can't recollect.



as ¥r. Julian? A Only in rm to d

this check until to-day? A

Q WVhen and whero? o
mch.

Q Can you fix any day or

saw Mr. Julian at the Cuba

Q How did you know it was Mr.

been == T had talked with him &8 Wr. i

to be ¥r. Julian.

Q When and under vhnt circumstances
I had them there for collection,

supply CoOmpany with the checks, M m ‘
and t alked with him, at the Cuba w
him there, yves.

Q And that you talked with ¥
Cuba Supply Company? A w
body that was there, for payment.



h m urmmt.
mﬂ A ¥o, sir, T do not.

Q WNow, you understand you lll

G younot? A T do.
Q@ Do you méanto say to this

tiu presented to Mr. Julian at w
con'pnnv a choclc that vas lm
to be paid, and asked nmwnﬁi
think T ever presented ¥r. Julian's
I presented to the Cuba Supply Ow M ‘
Q What? A 1T prcunt.d it to thl m ‘

for pa.vmont, and T had seen Mr. Julian m
Q You do not say to this Jm that you
checks to him for payment? A No, %
Q ZLet us go a step ﬁxrthor. in the mw .,,..

be mistaken about ever having seen Mr, 3u1£ﬁ ill
of the muba Supply Compeny? A I don't think m
Q Whe else was there hesides J'\ﬂ.hl. the ‘

day you saw him there? A _' There was lmm w
of Judsaon, | ,
Q More than one man by the moﬁt m “*

don't know as there wasmore than one man by the



-

saw Judson there at different times.

were at the office uwmm
when you saw Julian there? A T

Q You do not remember seeing
date? A On mo special date, mo, sire
Q FNot even on the 21st of M,
Q You would not swear to this
on that day, would you? A No, si®s
e Wy didyou;lo 80 mu 't
understand it so. ‘
Q What? A T 4id not
understand that I -- as I say, T

ferent times when I was there

R Vhat aia 'you mean, when



tmtutxmtmuumu“
Q Fe was always there? A MM
at different times. e e
Q You mean some day when you went in m
you saw Julian there? A I am positive I “
Q mtyua-n:aq“ '
nxwpctunhr date,
Q !oudomtwhmlmum
when you went in to present mommm
MR, HOLBERT: nun.umllm'
ltrthontau.tlntoumdﬂl

ﬁ,ﬂ' ‘1ov\ y X

was said at the time the “ﬂ
ground it is incompetent, ﬁ'm
and it would not be mmﬁ
the true state of his account. :“m
of the witness®s u-mmq _
to what he md;to the mm




sterdam Bank in the regular course
in the same way it was presented by

Hotel his agent.
BY THE COURT: '

Q@ You went down there for what p
the check. e '

Q Vas it paid? A It was note
THE COURT: I will let it stand in %
timony on that subject as to what ﬂf |
THE COURT: Anything he satd in i




4 B 3 g e W

(111

Camm— et h—— 55

.

ther and jtnﬁ the com . =
in authority at that place?
THE COURT: No.

- (objected to as

terial.)

THE COURT: Is that the only objectd
THE COURT: T will

Exceptione |

(Received and marked P

MR, vmi I .m




Same objection, ruling ﬁi

THE COURT: If that is the o
ceive it in evidence.

MR, FOLBERT: I objeot to it
THE COURT: How? g

s

show that the defendant was mot

cate of the md State,
corporation of the name of the (

(Received and marked People's
¥R, WASSERVOGEL: T alse

cate of the Secretary of State &
tion of the name of Cuba
Same objection, ruling &

(A1

e e TV m———



3¢ s e

A el

JORN B, NORIARY, ocal
.gm‘rn,u,m-n-hl;

follows:
DIRBOT RXAMINATION BY MR,

Q What is your business? i

Buperintendent of Banks of the S5t
Q How long have you been em

Superintendent of Banks? A tm

purpose of finding out Wﬁ

concern known as the Cuba Supply |
time a right to transact a m
A !..' m’ e

Q What did your examination a3

any such cor mration.
MR, HOLBERT: I object s
and immaterial, not binding

MR, HOLBERT: T move
THE COURT: Motion
BY MR, WASSERVOBEL: '

Ligdgd' A




draw the chod.
Objection mralhl. mu.o
(The paper is received in evidence and marked

~ People's Exhibdit 7.) e et

MR, HOLBERT: I-unnhmmﬂ

ant and incompetent for that reason.



VILLIAM STEMPEL, ¢

follows:

Q What is your
the firm of Pindler & Weibel? A
In what capacity? A

Q Did you ever take an
Cuba Supply Company? A '!'.Q.

Q For the printing of

Q Vas an order of checks
Company? A Yes

Q Printed by Findler b‘{“

Q Those checks printed :
name printed at the bottom, .




\
PERDINAND J. PICKERR,

b af follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY n. 70Gk
Q Where do you reside? A f
Q What is your business? A M
Q Wnat 1s your business? A 1
Q In the month of J 5
‘business? A No, im the
~Q Did you do amy printing m
July, uoav A Off and on, yes.
Q !ounnwliutum
as the other? A Indirectly.
Q Prior to that you were in the printing b
altogether? A Yes. L
Q Down in Willism Street? A Yes, ur; nmum
Q Do you know the defendant, _WQW A “
Q How long have you known him? A AN "

over twenty you'o.
Q Did you ever have a umuu ﬂﬁ ﬁ'
about printing checks of the Cuba m m A
Objected to as incompetent, Mm



my affidavit, I did not take any
orders were left with Mr. Folan.

my account. I did not take any
Q Did you ever speak ’h
printed by you? A No, sire
Objected to as incompetent,
terial.
THE COURT: He said he did not.
BY WR. WASSERVOGEL:

Q !on made a statement to ﬁi

days ago? A Yes, sir; mt 1. m
MR, HOLBERT: T object as

cross-examine his own witness.
refresh his recollection.
Objection overruleds
BY MR, WASSERVOGEL:
Q That statement was made



!

% 49 P

mm

a8k you if you ever
' Objected to as incompetent, ir:

terial. Gnm and m
;’u, I saw that. .

A

who would leave an order there in the m r
Q Do youh\ahu-w“mi-m

defendant at that time? » 2 o
Objected to as incompetemt, !M
terial.

THE COURT: If he knows he mm ;



printing? A Yes.
; @ You sent a Bill to the de
Al Q Has the bill ever been §
- MR, HOLBERT:

it out.

BY MR, WASSERVOGREL:

Company? A No. »
| l_‘ Did you mm m
~ trom the Cuba Supply Company? A M
| Q Ml“youommtm:ﬁ
for the printing of mm A ﬂ.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR, m’ e
Q@ You say a ¥r. Polan did certain
were you present at any time Mﬂ
dered checks printed? A No, m’
Q@ Did you hear any ©
to any checks? A lo,. sire

Q Did you receive l.m



A Yes.

a on the subject? A No,
| Q You did not talk to him on the

I wasn™t downtown. . o

MR. HOLBERT: Immm*,

the defendant in any way. ol
THE COURT: What do you say as o
vogel?
MR, VASSERVOGEL:
BY MR. WASSERVOGEL: Did you mm,
about these checks? A No, sir.

Q At no time? A No, sire



o A ottt £8

¢

in the Magistrate's Court? A

MR, HOLEERT: I object. Mr. Wass

to igpeach kis own Fitases Sileee SN |

Objection overruled. Nxception.

Q Do you remember making a statement
room a few days ago? A Yes,

MR, HOLBERT: I object, as having m

ered.

Objection overruled. huptu.-

and County of New York, whom I formerly did
and there left an order and possibly 'bn



THE COURT: Ts that any different
satd now?
THE WITHESS: I thought I was

Vhat T stated there is exactly the
Q Do you rontnbor -k:l.nc this
luvinc seen one ofthe packages"? A “ '
 "They were all light biue ‘Iﬂ
of the Cuba Supply Company"® A Yes.
Q “And there were at least ﬂ' “
be delivered to Louis E. W &ﬂ
that? A Yese.
WR. FOLEERT: I object, as mot b
tcnmt'.‘ '
BY VR, WASSERVOGEL: | _
Q You also remember making WIMW
sent a bill for the primting to Louis E. Julian®; nﬂ
remember making that statement? A Yes.
MR, HOLBERT: Il@tb”M“m
strike out the answer.
Motion granted.
HOLBERT: I move to strike out l“ ﬂ
of this witness on the .M lf the
checks, on the same grounds.




DIRECT EXANINATION BY MR.
Q@ Vhere do you live? A '

S designates what the subject 18 8
* THE COURT: T take it 4% 4
| relevant to the subject ati

BY MR, WASSERVOGEL:

Q Yes? A I had not

13th -~ yes, 1 did.



a check for QSOQ
; Q VWhat talk did you have with himf
Dbjected to as 1.-..”. : : ry
terial. ; '
Q What d1d you do with the cheek?
to 135 Broadway. | .
 aagesses s 0

'BY THE COURT:

a1 asked him for a check, uluw
MR, HOLBERT: I know of & |

this witness®s testimony
evidence will net develop that am

: giving of that M !'I: wae ﬂ
and would not e competent for W

Jury.
| THE COURT: Proceed.
BY MR. vmomi ‘
Q Vhat was said?
ﬂﬁ objnuoio
A the Sutten dunl i $100 -



Q What 41d you do with that check &
Same objection.
THE COURT: You do not make
noum-t.

: case. | ,.
THE COURT: Wnat is the purpose?

MR, WASSERVOGEL: The purpose Ah n m

notice to the defendant showing intent and gemeral o

of conduct. M 3 v

THE COURT: It is mot remote -- the 15th day of
July. _

MR, HOLBERT: It 4s not omn the mﬂudm
ness, but simply tmmumummm
! people == in other words, he did not M‘h“

from this man on this check and hence it was not a mate




to the subject of the inten
erence to the check drawn &
Exception.
BY MR, VASSERVOGEL: Tell us, pleases
AT went to the Cuba Supply Company

Q After you found you could no
you do, did you talk with Julisn

checke A
Q How long after mm wa
A I couldn™t give you the “ mbe:
within a week. | fe
Q Less than & week? A M

can"t be exact.

Q@ What talk did you have uﬁl‘l
told him I presented the check and could

and that is about as I remember tio

CROSS-ERMINATION BY MR, HOLBERTY

Q Mr, Julien had deen owing
before this transaction? A He om
from about the 12th of Jume, that mad




MR E G ik kot IR
L w‘é 'u” i kﬁ; s il

AT asked him for soms money, ]
Q And Julien said to you that he
that the Cuba Supply Company was indebted
would give you a check on them mm
A T canmot remember if that .lﬁh
at that time, but I know he did give ms &
the Cuba Supply Companys Y
Q Vas that the substance
the substance of 1t? A I M
It is almost five years ago.
Q At the time he gave you the ¢
any money at m? A Yo, sir; not at ~
the check. |

Q He still owed you $100 m the
ed and unpaid -- he simply owed you $100?
me yety I guess.

Q And whenm the check was not n‘l
and told him they would not pay the ¢
T went back immediately and told uq.
had the check on were not in when I o

couple of days before I was able u




i

E
-

Q Did you find anybody in
¥r. Judsons. e
Q What did he say to you then?
him the check and he looked at 1t 4

Q Between the time ”“” T
time you met the two together, did ”
alone? A I do.n"t knowe I ””‘

I think it was after thate I went in i
that and pro‘un.l «= I 444 not
T knew the Judsons knew what T

et
; ,

could not pay me, and semetimes one




A !tmhmhut“ntmm‘"

tion? A WVell, I don"t know as I went M “

om the street or went to his office, but T notified him
St attee St St ¥ 5 not received the money on the
eh.ck. ‘ b
Q Your best judgment is that sometime, two or thres
weeks after? A No.
MR, WASSERVOGEL: He did not say thate
THE VITNESS: It was not two or three weeks.




Q Prom the 15th of July, when you |
A Yes.
BY MR, HOLBERT:

Judsons, and you went back to see
suffering with trouble with his eyes?

not see. : y
Q !oubuh-m.tﬁu'm"m

A Somswheres around there he was

and I mumuhmw

sround by anybody then? A We.
Q Ortholei“”hw*Q:"
Q About the non-payment? A No, I
Q Mis trouble with his eyes was

time,



thing of that kind -- I 4id not
Q Was it a month mmw
A It was less than om. 1

um. 'Mz

Q Counsel asked you

had with Judson?

A Yes. AR

Q At the time you presented the Mm
can you uu us the exact words said by M*
s : ‘ i

A When he said the account had been overdrawn?

Q ‘!cl? '

A T happened to read over that testimony that was take
before the Magistrate, and that mm my mind to h
extent that I remember now that one ummm
that Mre Julian had overdrawn his account, and he had done i
two or three times and he was tired of ”c ﬁ*wﬁ"
it taken before Wahle, Magistrate Wahle. |




Hotel Imperial, because this

value, and in itself shows no
fore it does not tend to m
intent with the Hotel 'Inpu'm‘

Motion denida, l:o.pﬂ,m

JOHRN B,

ags follows!:
DIRECT REXAINATION BY MR, WASSERVOGEL:

Q Where do you live? 2 m

Q@ Tn the month of July 1905 what l'ﬁ

A Janitor FPulton Bulldlng.
Q WVhere is that? A 138 Liberty st

Q Did you know the defendant Julian at

A Yes,

Q@ Did he have an office in thlt

had any conversation with the cm

Objected to as incomm tent,

(1R R

et T ——




THR COURT: You hed bam

YR, WASSERVOORL: T will me
it. &
A T guees 1 .pm to hth

them gdod.

Q One at a time, what was m

Same Mmton, rulﬂ
A T domit know what was cet
Q l'hlt 'vira the words? i
checks, | _
Q Before tiut, v_h§ m-m
A Tt was handed to me by one of
Q When did you first see §
or four daye after it was |
Q Didn't you see it m.ﬁ ‘
A Yes, : 3 ‘-t
Q That ie what T asked you &
lian handed it to me, |
Q@ What 414 Julian ily to
A He acked me if T would get 4
Q And whet 414 you “‘

caghed,




ﬂ gave it to Mr. Jullan.. | A
Q Handed it to him youm 4

VR, WASSERVOGEL: T offer the

Objected to ss incompetent,

Overm led, [Exception, v

The check is received in e

Exhibit B,

Q T now ghow you a pllm"?,"

you Aif yon ever had W :

regarding that?

| _ Bllt objection, ruling and e 0

A Yes, sir, he gave me this M
cashed. |

Q Did you get it olshcd? A !t&o

Q Well, d1d you give the cash to the M-, A

Q How myghwas it? A Fifteen aolhm - I M

maybe T gpent a little out of it when T got it -=

WR, WASSERVIGEL: T offer ﬂu check in eviden

Same objection,

THE COURT: I wi11 admit 1t in evidence, s

to the intent with which the check of the !

made payable to the Inperial Hotel was

to that purpose; as bearing upon the



you if you recognize that? A

Q pia you havo‘ a talk with ﬁi

Q Did you get it cashed? A
Q What did you doc with the
E W, lten. |
Q How muchwas 1t? A Thirty-one
MR, WASSERVOGEL: T offe: m a
same objection, ruling and 1
THE COURT: +t will be roasivel and

gquestion of the intent of the M‘uﬂﬁ
? July 20 1905 to the Tmperial Hotel. !:t _
f any other pmuepose . That l’lﬂl“»',‘ ﬂ
j, outside of meorle's Exhibit wé: 1, |

The check is received in Md“o and

Exhivit 10, |
- BY MR, VASSERVO~BL:

' Q Now T understood you to say you m



Q After the dates of these ow. dia
with Julian, the defendant? A Yes, sir,
Q What @14 you say and what did he

- igot back =- brought it backto Julian =

said there was no funds.

; _ Q How about the othof checks? A
© and brought the three of them back. |
Q What 414 he say? A T Del
two of them back to him. ol
Q Did you see him about m d&u‘ _

A Yes, sir,.
Objected to as incompetent, i
Over—uled. 'h:clptlon. , :
x QWaat 018 you st A 8 asked him mm
A and he %14 me he would if T gave him a m |
Q What 414 you tell him about the checks? A

ghould not have given me bad checks,

CROSE RXAMTNATION BY MR, HOLBERT:
Q How long had you known Mr., Julian mﬁ

A Probably eix or eight months, something 1



Q And theyw ent through and
A Yes, sir,
Q These three checke that the
your attention to are three out _c‘r 1 1
wmwhmwemﬂywh"eumdﬁW 
cured to be cashed for him? A !’“.
Q And the rest ocameback all
istrue? A T had no trouble with W
Q And these throo all went
A nmt T do not lmew.

Q They all/hnok to you at the same tﬂﬁllg.
came back first and then the othar two Lutir i
Q When you got the three checks m m
and told him they were not paid? A Imﬂlﬂlﬂm

first one. ‘ | ‘ ' | :
Q What did he say to you? A He told me hnm
overdrawn hie account, but he would make '!OIQV »
- Q@ He said he might have overdrawn anl.hn'Iﬁn&l-
and when the other twoc came back == :
THE COURT: That wae the one of the mn
firet one? Ll

A Yes, eir, the first check.



BY MR, HOLBERT:

Q What d1d you say % hin 88
of sore giving me m bad olnahs;
MR. HOLBERT: I o‘b.icct N

out,

good 1t would be all right, as near as T can r
Q As-mattor of fact he did mm*
those checks? | ;
Objected to, Objection min-l..
Q You and J’ultan at that time aiad W m,
to make the checke zoods to you?

Objected to, ObJoctun sugtained. &m
Q Julian said to you that he would mmm
A Yes, |
Q Youtold him if he did it was all m ol #
him 1t would be up to Mr. Battersey, and Mr. Batt .




amount, didn+t he?

Objected to. Sustained.

FPRANCIS BATTERSSY,
behalf of the People, being duly

as follows:

A Yes, sir, i s
Q T show you People's l:hl?itl 8, Oﬂ” ;
if you recognize them? A Yes, | =
Q Are you the Mr. Blttlth* Mttﬁu' by u >
- Mr. Curry as having cadud these ohuh? A m
Q After the checks were uﬂud m M "m I

days after the check came back, _
Q And vhat talk did you have, what ¢

he say?

51 5 vt R GRMEAIRANY 4



' THR COURT: Tt may h

1 do not know,

to cover the checks,

| Q Speak a littlelouder -- these
A Then he sald hiﬁ eyes were nn
as soon' ae hig eyes would be a

the money to me,

| CROSS EXAMINATION BY WR., HOLNEI

Q He told you he w ‘there
cover them? A Mr, Julian himself, yes.
 Q 7To14 you that?A Fulian. 5

Q Told you he thought there was

Supply Company to ooﬁor vour

Q But his eyes being sore
to 1t hewould make it good, as long
A Yes, sir,

Q You advanced the money on &
not mye 21f? A No, not ml}t

Q As matter of fact you h I

dollare on acc ount of these '__

Objected to, Bus




AUGUST LUDEMAN, called as

o{ the People, being duly l'm and
as follows:

DIRRCT EXAMIVATION BY ¥R, WAS

| Q Where do you live? A 23

Q What is your business? A.

Q Your rlace of business? A

if you reoogntze it? g Yes,
THR COURT: What ie the mﬁ
VR, WASSERVOCEL:
BY ¥R, WASESERVOGEL:
Q Dld you have & convomttu\f‘jc_
thla paper? A At the time of
VR, HOLBERT:
and immaterial, to the 1smu
Objection overruled.
THE WITNRSS: What




Q s
Q What 414 you do? A T dld.
Q How much did you mive htl? A
WR. WABSERVOGEL: I offer the ¢
Objected  to as incomp etent, ¢ '
and -long subsequent to the giﬂu of | ;
THE COURT: Sometime in m v :
CTHR GOURT: TInside of two m«v
bearing upon the 1ntent_ion with whwb *
check was given, ah‘d 1 ul'_ulvrcc‘nt;n. it Il‘
that, ‘ o
Bxception, ;
The check l.sA received in evidence ﬂ
People's ,.,xhi.bit‘ & | |
BY VR, WAESERVOGEL:
Q What did you do wtfh the check? - A
the next day in my bank. It came back "No

Q After it came back "no account® as y

a talk with the defendant? A ‘fﬁ. m.

Same objection,




BY THE COURT: - 4
Q How soon after did he

week or so.

BY MR, vasmVom:

Q What did you sy and what

he would have to m_a_ke it good ©

to the counesel,

. Q What did you uy “&*
you nh; he would have to make
came hack ne account.

Q What did he say? A 1

CROSE EXANINATION:

Q You first brought him a 1

see you when he got theletter A

Q And have you given all the eo

at that time between you and

A WVight have been gane other ¢ ¥

A Yes, sir,

Q But that he would uho

(A1E




11

that check right at that time? A Mo, b -
Q How long afterwards mm that hi

Objected to. owmtu

check was cashed =- another gent]
with him?* A Yes.

Q And Julian's eyes we-e in

led around by Mr_ TFox, is not that

Objected to, Bol e ‘
A He was,
T want to

this time and subsequent to !

~ THR COURT: TIf objected ¢
MR, VASSERVOEL: T obj
THE COURT: Objection
Exception.
BY VR, HOLBERT:
Q You had known ilr. J’uuw
Q@ You had cashed quite a :
A Yes.
Q Never had any trouble abo

BY THER COURT:




Q Thie is the only check of °

you ever cashed for him? A Yee,

this indictment, and T would

80 that this motion may be

It is rather a tcelnim
(...”* ‘ and one that T would 1ike t’e
length.

i b THE COURT: You are not

MR, HOLBERT: No, I am not presented '
at length at this time,

THR COURT: 1In the interests of tho

iy A g -

grant the apvlication though I ”.rt“ m‘
obliged to adjourn oourt at half pllt thrn. U M sa

time his interests must bo protected.

The Court admonishes thejury in accordance | :
section 415 of the Code of nrimiani procedure nl
an adjourmment until to-norrov morning May 17, w g

at 10:30 o' clock, ‘ v ' 2



THR COURT: Yes,

YILLIAY P» JUDEON, {
behalf of the People, being u‘w
fied as follows:
Q Where do you muﬂ A

Supply Company? A = Yes.

1904, ;
Q And you know Mr. Little, one

defendant in this case? A ﬂ.«

Q ¥r, Little was formerly ”
A Ve were associated together,

Q You became acquainted

B

' A Yes, soir,



*~ Q The Cuba Supply Company was orgen
of thr State of Delaware? A Yes, "'f.‘, '
Q Por what purpose? |

: tracting and supply business in Cuba
- Q Tt had uommmt
Q No power to do a banking business of a ‘_
Q And was never authorised to do smy busd
State of Wew York whatever? 7
Objected to as M the best m

petent.
¥R, WASSERVOGRL:
already.
THR COURT:
receive it,
RException,
DRPRIDANT! § COUNBEL:
immaterial and not the vest @
A T had always supposed thatsy



f1led the necessary papers here.
& VR, VASSERVOORL: T ask that

Mlt.

Q You are a lawyer? A 'ludn
bt given here yesterday --
b Q WVait a minute.
~ THR COURT: Mr.
have legal tralning, M m
questions. Appreciate what the
go outside of the four corners C i&

‘THR WITVESE: Very in!.l.
THE COURT: Reply to that and nothing
DRPENDANT'S COUNERL: T wish %o muw
| that 1t is incompetent and not the best
binding upon Julian, the fact that “ mm
ized to do business, %
Ohjection overruled. HExoeption,
BY MR, WASSERVOORL: ~ .
Q (Question repeated) Yes or mo? A
- Q Did this defendant ever mq

e

R o



Q That company had been out
year prior to July 19059 .A

Q That is correct, is it not? A Yes
'Q Do you know sman nam-d sloker? A We
Sicker or Polan for the Cuba Supply Company? i
can recall, _ e
Q@ You would recall 1t A  Yes, T think soy
Q@ You never had sny printing done by m ‘
T oan recall, , ‘ o
Q Did you ever pay & man named MGWM
checks? A T do not recall 1%, e

Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant and imm

WR. WABEERVOOEL: 7o bring out that this |
printed checks of the nuba Supply Company h!



Q You were nﬂmn hefore the Grand

were you not? A ti-‘ | i
QD14 the Cuba Supply Company have any b
months of May, June and July of 19059 A n.
Objected to as incampetent “ |

. binding upon the defendanmt,
- | Objection wm
Q You sald no? A T said no,
@ D1 the ruba Fupply Company during the mon:
m.nquu.u,mow A W‘M
Q How much at any one time? A At m

three hundred dollars.

Q Where was that money kept?

Broadway.
-~ BY THR COURT:
Q That is at what time?
THE WITNRSS: During the lﬂ‘.
VR, WASSERVOGEL: Way, June and July of
BY ¥R, WABERRVOGRL:
by Q During those months d4id you have a



“.m upon the original hearing in !“
m 1t, no, sir.

i Q@ Your recollection was better at that
I[_ . present? A A great deal, X
| ' | Q If you said at thet time that m-t

'

- mooount, would that be correct?
3 Objected to ss immaterial,
P T THR COURT: T think it is and the

were also.
mm-n COTNEHL:
- THRE COURT:
strike it out.
WR. WASSRRVOGEL: Wnich does your Honor
THR COURT: The three questions and ﬁ
BY MR, us-vom:
Q Did you ever gln to him any nthﬂ'ltr to ar
on the Cuba Supply Company? A T ai4d n‘tcﬂ.ﬂ
to draw checks. T gave him uﬂnﬂw to ‘M on m
o

Supply Company. i
Q Did you gmive him any blanks to 11l out?®
that T recall, T may have done so0.

People's whibit 1¥ A T do mot reoald i%



@ Dia Julian have

WR. WASSERVOGEL:
phnn, thst T have !hl'l
your Homor that this witness u;;
wonld like mm to

BY ¥R, vmn..

A T hed a conversation about that time ==
Pebruary or March T cannot recsll at ﬂl
Q@ WVhat was the comhl' A

the c ampany and he was uktu about W
BY THR COURT:
Q Thie was in January 19089 A
that . .
Q Some time previcus £o m
done work for the company == Q'*“

oontinued into January and



Some detective work, or ¥

a person for me,
Q@ And you were to pay him a
that amount® A VNothing was ever m
simply acked him to try and locate
Q Do you remember testifying bet
ron ows, "If we collected, “ uo
large sum for his -m

net recall specifioally t-s't*'

Q Tt is true? A

Q@ TIf the record so
‘eon'mt. . _’

Q That was true® A

Q The amownt was never '.
that it ever was.
Q Tt was not as matter

Orand Jury "We never

A That is correct, sir, ‘




Q ©o that the entire “H

became due to him was for some small &

person ageingt whom you had an un ol

comct? 4 % do not think it is

Q If you o testified hefore m-
gorreot ?

Objected to s=s -nuc for a:

his opinion now «= thoum

BY MR, iABML:

before the Grand Jury. T ask m lni tht m
utomtonmwmmcmn MM
think it does. ; : :

Q Do you remember being asked this QMQ>

Grand Jury by the Foreman of the Grand ”.
amount at that time that had ever bec ome ” U‘

uncollected claim*? * A Yes.*
testimony? A T do not recall it.
Q If it is in the record “m}‘



be that T 414 not thoroughly W
the question when it was given bef
BY MR, WASSRRVOGRL: | |
Q Do you remember being asked “
Wshle, upon the prolutum_m‘ig £
authority that this defendant had to dr
when @14 he have such authority? A, T
until along, probably in May aﬂtb v
tfy? A T donot recall 1%, i
Q If the record so shows, h “
concede that is corredt? A T m

records shows so,

how many drafts did he draw e
T should say probably hw H’ % t
Q These amounted ntm ” :

dred dollars.

Q@ FHow much would you ﬂm ‘

Q You 414 not owe him
my feeling would be that the

Q Just answer my



recollection, before the ln-l M, -m
and five, .
Q Are you positive of that? A That

h true, is ttnot,h-lumum ‘h

this party? A Oh, no,

4 Q Did you ever pay hin .i"‘ A
Yes. A TYor other things than this

Q

Q Yes? A T think sos

Q Did he render other services for you, s &
you mean? A No. .

Q What were the other payments for? AT
time T losned him some money.

Q Have all tha checks which wers drawn by him on f
Bupply C'O.pmy been paid? A

Q Fow many were ratumoﬂ' ‘ - Yyou, i

Q Vhen did they first oome back? A I M” |
T 40 not reoall. i

Q You never kept any books at ll!' A ﬁ, m

Q Simply a mental method Qmm



'o had some talk at that time but !‘CDM

exact words.
Q Did you 1l him in Nay or June ¢

but just my exsct words T cannot
Q Did you have fund at that

A Dla T E
Q Yes, A Yes, dr. g

Q Or the Company? A T donot resall s

Q fo. or no «= did the ew have

A T 40 not recall that they had any.

Q Had none at al1? A

Ry

Q Did you ever draw any mw
yourself to the order of J‘nudf | A
aotu 80, | o

Q Were any checks drawn by m to h
unpaid, by the Cuba Supply Company? A |

Q@ Do you recognise your signi .
mor to the witness?) A T * |

Q Dated June 20 1908% A



vant and immaterial and not

what thie man did. >
THR COURT: What i the date?
VR, WASEERVOORL: June 19, 1
home notice to the defen dant,

 DEPENDAIT'E COUNBRL: I

to the defendant Julian. Wh i

matter of indifference. Tt is m
THE COURT: T will take it.

Exception, o

WR. WASSERVOORL: T offer it in evi

Received in evidenice and marked a0y

BY VR, WASSERVOGRL: _ - :

Q That check was not paid at that time,

Same objection. ;

- | THR VITNRSE: Tt is markedpaid, A

Q@ When was it paid? A T can't uu

Ohjected to as immaterial. A o

Q@ Do you remember a notioce hmm ;

A Not about that check, ne, sir. 3



Ay g R

THR GOURT: T will let it

© saye it was paid, ‘
BY MR, WASSERVOGHL: |
Q Do you know the signature to m
another paper)? A T do, | -
~ Q Drawn by your brother? A
looks like his handwriting.
Q Upon the ~uba Supply
'Q Dated June 20, 1905% A
WR. VASSNRVOUEL: T offer this
Objected to.

THR COURT: Ts it made to the
¥R, VASSERVOGEL:  Made to the
Objected to as incompetent,
purportingto be a chnkuh’brlh.

THE COURT: But given to '*h o
WR, WASSERVOGEL: Given “ e
WR. HOLWERT: Given to Wimy
THE COURT: I ml"rllﬂ ﬂ I
Wxoception.
Papers redeived in ¢




BY THR COURT:
Q Was it paid? A

T can tell you,
MR, HOLBRRT: T would !
or not.

WR. WASSERVOORL: T¢ &

: 'bnt first notice riven fo ﬂ ,
WR, WOLEERT: T move to strd
on the ground it does not wn
on the part of wom«. o
THR COURT: T do not mhﬂ
let it stand as it is, | |
Exception.
BY VR, WASSRRVOGEL: ey
- Q T show you this paper N

the signature to that? A m
Q Tt is your brother's he

not swear to 1it, |



Q Do you mean to MMM
writing? A T mean to say T cammot r
signature, | G

Q And do you recognise this m

15 as having been signed by your e

-~ Q Had no aiffienlty in rﬁm

A Yes, ; |

r Q You had soms thﬂW‘ b ‘m :
A T say T would not swear that hMIl

Q You would vnot swaar that is not IIO

'Q Look at this check and tell me if that

Objected to as inoompetent, um

THR COURT: To whom is it made?

WR, WASSERVOGEL: To the defendant

1905, _ >

- : mmnut.muwumm
Q TIs it not a fact that check was first pre

non payment on the 21st of June? A !ﬁm

was or not,

3

Objected to as incompetent, irr



Rxoeption,
The check is marked for !
Exhibit 14,

Another paper is w

tdentification,
BY WR. VASSERVOGEHL:
@ The defendant hed beenwith
time? A At the office at 38

WR. TOIRNRT: Tt is met in
THE COURT: Ask him the qu
BY WR. VASSERVOORL:

i or
e




August . | et
Q You allowed a whele “to 24
hin about this matter? A You nb-l

to draw any more?
Q Yes. A That fsmyr
- Q You realise that you aﬁ
festily.
QDo you mﬁbor being asked this

auypu_ocnmyv A T ala." mmn Y
g0 not recall it. Tf it s in theminutes T 414,
Q Do you remember being asked this ¢ |

of the Grand Jury, "1 'int you to answer ~ ues
014 him that he had overdrawn his agoaint
not wish him to draw any more®. Diad you
WR, HOLBERT: T objeot %0 the

an attempt upen ﬁo part of the
inotcd portions of the minutes.



it in evidence,

was read to hh.
BY MR, WASSRRVOGRL: , 5 s
Q Page 1, you were asked by the foreman of
"What 1is your business? A

T sn & lawyer.®
testify? A

T do not recall.
Q !ou are a lawyer? A m.'

Q"Practicing in this ‘country? A w
so0 tutlfy before the arand Jury? A

are reading from the minutes.

Q "Is there such & corporation as the Cuba w

in business here? A, There is such a corporation.

not doing buriness here.” Did you 80 testify?
not recall 1it,

Q TIf the record so shows was it trus?



S IR R RIS SR T e

otien 05 Tk sadtensions Bis
Objection sustained, ,
VABSNRVOORL: T am mocused of
questions and then of not reading _d:- _,
THR COURT: Procesd. e

BY WR., WABERRVOORL:
Q@ Do you remember being asked this
rre-m'.scrmmm,

exactly thou words or not.* Did you so
not recall that testimony, .
Q TIf the record shows that you did, ﬂum
true at that time? A Yo, E
Q "Q. Vhatever the language 'll, was that M
in substance? A, My mulutul is that ﬁ!

would not be pald.” Did you so testify? 5 1



_ had reached the limit and he should @
‘# the scount ¢ A, That was

ramember the exact words." _

Jury? A T do not recall u,m“
Q *Q. And some time prior to July

to present no more ehﬁto or m

A R SRR et~

. That is my recollection.®  Did you ﬁ
Jury? A T do not recall fte
Q Tf it s in the record,
Objected to
' sion,
Q Do you pay it 1ls correct?
Ob:loottdn overruled.
A Twmld say in view cmmu'
sented this morning, it was mm.

question and answer? A The M that '! m
June a draft to Jullen to oash. el
Q@ You do not know if that dvaft hMﬂ

A T know it was paid, !tunm |
' qvunptaanmtuﬂ A
Objected to as ulﬂﬂo

Q You realised that you were under oatl



Q Any connection? ,
Q Owed 850 A To anybody¥

Q To the defendant? A To Julien'
Q Yes. A What time? : T
Q July 20 19089 A |

uumz the truth then? A
Q@ Do you recall ‘boug_ wked this quest!
entirs amount he Juliam ever claimed was due
vices? A. We have never m ‘l “
sl Sefiutte Inakiti-ds 4 much m'
Do you recall that tonw 2% do ¢
Q That was co-rect? A But it 1

Q "By the foreman of the orand Jumyt
arrangement did you have? " ”

his services." Do you
not refall it but it is
Q@ "Q. TIf you aid net ¢



ned you o-llected that olaim? A. Mo, |

A Yes. e
Q Do you rememberbeing asked this qu

your best recollection as to the

time." Dia you 80 uutm 1
q If the record shows it wtnm wm
Objected to as calling for a -m
question of his recolleotion.
Objection sustained,

R Tt s Gie Shot SN06 Saeel 6 shows, will that
your recollection? A That testimony was m ‘
ment fmade by the Magistrate . ‘

L Q@ You remember so testifying vefore ﬁm a
that is t he question at the mmt t ime? | A
test imony"

Q Yes? A No.

Q At that time when you were before hm!
based your recollection upon sertain *ll. “ :




R T viaier tis gesten SilaR
" foreman of the arand Jury, *But you m _
presentation you muﬂm him to ”ﬁ
drafts on the company for the reason that
)a“' A. Yn.' - Did you g0 testify? a
testifying, and must have h.lil m
given those drafts you ‘showed me this | ,
- Q@ TIs your recollsotion n the m

_wWas several years ago? A l.. umf
S Sour seoetiaabiee m'w’ﬁq

Q Doyaumbwthhrmm 4

hy the foreman of the Grand Jury, "Q. rum
If he 414 draw his draft, 1t would not be pua
told him that T was getting Cam where T gould n¢
him, which is vprnoﬂoa,ny the seame thing,*
A T do not reeall 1it. :
Q If the record so shows will you say m h
Objeoted to as calling for a oo .

sustained,

Q When 414 those drafte first begin hh '

40 you remenber? A T do not.



the Yagistrate, T would say it vas oor

Q "And you knew that the am
throughout New York , and that they
company in preat numbers at that time9
Objected to -tmmg

and leading, Objection sustain

‘pany?

defendent, Overruled. BExoe
A Yoa;

Q Vho were they?

fame oh:oottoa;

THE COURT: On thet statement &

T will receive it,

VR. WASSERVOGRL: T will o

Bxception,

THE WITNRSE: Various |

Q W¥ill vou name any |
Supply Company?
Ramo objectlon, rul

Q Name one oo



A umm
qummm
Same objeotion, ruline and
A T a0 not muﬂoofmm*

member one or two did.

Q Tn 1905¢ A Tn 1906, |

Q Where was the office of the Cuba By

time? A 135 Broadway. ,

, Q Whose office was that, ﬂo “‘ & pepi

by the Ouba Supsly Company? A e, 1t vas o

w\rottur.lnl mys elf, e |
Q All the office that the Nh : ,

time was the name upon the "‘l" A ‘ ‘

Q@ Did it have uy fm‘nlm there? 1

no -- the Cuba cupply Company 414 not have ﬂ

Q ¥ill you name any ”“'*W

Supply Company other than the

yourself?
Objected to as incompetent, ir:
- to the issue and not binding upon the de

Objection overruled. oW

A My reccllection is that Mr, d

of Wilmington, Delaware, who had
drew a draft at that ’Ot‘.
Q Did a man named Stanley |



THR W RES:

in Mr. Julian's office. -

Q Baggwas a friend (hlt“l.“
Ohjected to as incompetent,

THR COURT: Tf he knows he may

Atdcnmh:ov. PO

Q You state now po-ltivoly ﬂll‘ “
never drew any checks?

Objected to a» hl.

to the issus and not Bl

Objection overruled, ey

A T do not recall it at this M :

Q Bee if T can nfn.hm

before Magistrate Wahle thie m m'

Bagg ever draw any of these checks? lv ‘

question and answer as given gt that m

on the subjeot? i

j Same objection, ruling and

A TIf that testimony was mm

sy now that that must be i'u, | |

Q Did Bagg have asuthority %o

same objeotion, mlm “ﬁ

.....



He drew drafte ll it.
Did he have I!ih'r%i"lh lﬂi'
Ssme objection,
Q Vas he an officer of 1Ii.

A

Wotion denied. Mm
Q 1If you testified in the
O'Connor 4id, would that refresh your recol

= i

subjeot?
Same objection.

THR WITNRES: TIf T so testified ;l would

know him,
Q Both O'Connor and MNarinelll were friends of
defendant, were they not?

game objection, Objeotion wmu.
A Tp that correct? A T do not know,,



,V'amm. in the Magistrate's Court W d
Prank ln-uunu A. T think he did “

PR S EE——

suthority.” Did you eo u-um AT
but if 1t is in the minutes T did,

S L S R e

b Q Dia O'Connor ever have Q‘ihlrﬂ!.'iiﬂgg
fupply Oompany? A Wo,
h Q 'Bt111, both of thosemen ul m :
W A ll.ﬂ‘“ﬁ to what you m
a4, . |
Q ARG neither one of HHene N W
Cuba Supply Company? A T thimk
Q Marinelli 4ia not? A ,l_..;-dm,
Q mmnoannormum
drawing checks upon the Ouba Supply w
Obhjected to as tmmm,
A T 4o not,
THE COURT: Pix the time,.
Q TIn the year 1905. A T do not,
Q See if thie will refresh your
given by you in the Magistrate's nunnlt'ﬂt' f‘l
office and a sked him what it meant, s T
now,"

THE COMT: W¥r. Wasservogel T



Q Were therse cheoks of Stanley m ﬁ‘.
drawn® A T de not reall any *
Q TIf vou so tntlﬂd in ﬁ!
that statement there made have hesn |

Objected to as ealling for a o
Guml’a m

testimony in June 19057 ‘ o
Q Tf the record shows that testimony
refresh your recollection now? A T

dom to Jullan'e office andmade this sta
down to Julian's office and “m |
the ooccurrence now; nu wvhole
mind now «= what Bagg meant by dr



shows such a rtatement made by m, M
recollection? A That wemld nmw,

must h-vo given that testimony.

‘checks or drafts upon the Cuba

Objected to as
Q@ Do you uuuﬂn

A T dona,
Q@ Do you lmow a man
least T 4o not recall him.

Q Can you say Mr. hlou

is not shown that he is
¥R. WABSRRVOORL:
Objection overruled.



m deposit *?
Q ves. A TWe @14 not, o
Q Do you rememberbeing w
trate's nourt, "Did Julian have funds ¢
cheok, when it was &ua, the mwﬂ
funde enough theme, the day that he made

mw‘crod "He 414 not",
Objected to
‘0001'1'111..6o Lon.,
Q Dia you so testify? ‘a 5
is true,
Q How about .mxy 20 1908, @14 he m}
eh.qk to the Tmperial Hotel on that M “l

CROSE RXAMTNATTON:
Q Mr. Julian mever had funde deposite a

time? A Wo, sir.

Q And in that ccurt you gave &
of all the matters connected with %

was subject to a three day very



o B Ly

s e P B i

@ue Mr. Julian from ome $0 two hundred uxhu N_

THE VI'VRES: T do not recall m
Q Didnit you say at that time in

¥R. HOLBERT: Wot from @
memory. : ok
"=, WASEERVOGEL: T object to the g

| Q Didn't you then testify that in 1908 4

Supply Company
Objected to.
THE COURT: Wasthat testimony teken?
VR, HOLBRRT: There was suc" testimony, T
the witness'e independent recollectinm. - A
THE COURT: See that you are right yoursdf,
the transeript If you have it.



August? A, Last July and August¥es
WR, HOLBERT:  Page 34. |
BY MR, FOLRERT:
Q (Continuing) “Last July or August?
suppose about ome hundred or twe, Q |
did you so answer? ~_A g0 not 3

A T say if that testimony was riven before the |
was true,
Q Then on the 20th day «mwm&.m
did ows Mr. Julian from one to two mm m
your best Judgment? A T :m recall the Mm
time.
the amount, because my memory was fresh when that
was given. + s
THR COURT: You have no independent n«m
you testified to? §
A Vo,
Q You do not refute the record? A No, not at all,



Q And your recollection at that time w
1t is now? A  Certainly.
Q  Becauss at that time ummm
muu: of thie occurrence? A tainly. :
Q T will ask you mer in mﬂ ‘

seme exnmination and immediately follewing
414 ¥r. Iselin ask you Mn &
you answered *1 do mot know, u*.(
Q Have you .ny_nmor-u-‘w A Toem
Your best assumption? A  $150 to $175.% ﬂ
testifying in the Iuiotu“'n Court?
Q Ffince reading this to you -l l‘m . .

on that subject what would you say as to M in m .
was the larpest amount you had paid Jullem prier to m 2
19057 A T should say the testimony as given in m -

ceedines that you now read from ees
Q That is, in other words from $150 to f17857 A *“
is what the roco;'a showe, | _ |
Q Haven't you examined the minutes of your testimony “ _
the Yagigtrite? A T read the over ﬁ.tlly’ the other “



recollection is in the :-n of m
Q Tt wae & corporation? A _
'@ And took out its artioles under |
A Yer. » | it
Q Where was its prinoipal place ‘
Cuba, my rgoollmm-: is. e |
Q The principal place of !
winlington, Delaware? A If that
lnarpouuoa state, that is undoubte
Q Your work was am m h_ -
Q The original office of m»

Cuba® A Yes. |

Q@ The booke of the omm
A Yer,

e ever have? A My recollection is m“ ,
Objected to. Objection
THR WITNRSE (Continuing)
andthat was all paid in,
Q In cash? A Yesn,

Q And placed with the treasursr of Shi



been the oapital stock, that --m
Q Wae the defendant Jullan & =to

A Vo sir, ,
Q D14 you know the defendan ¢ Jullan
omv» was organized? A lo..‘ : _
Q Had you done o»énuunm.m‘;““ |
Company from the date of its orgenisatien &
19089 A The latter year, from somet!
company a'ld. very little h‘m
Q When you first met Mr. Juls

Q How did you meet him? A t

to .hh transacting some ‘buch_\m M

previous thereto in 'oonmtlm ﬂﬂl wr, L
assoclated, _ % ' ;
Q About how long previous? Lo
Possibly a month or six m. B
Q@ That is you mean to qmm

him as a speaking nmw A
Q Did you have any hm

the time you first met him and the ¢
this deteotive work for this ocom J
Judgment you held, did you hawe |

of any kind® A Wo, none at m



prior to the time he was hired t0 40 s

. know ae T even had a talk with him hen.
Q Have you ever had ”ﬂhﬂt

think one time when he began to press me

work that he had done T then told him that

Q Did you dlisouss wtth him the

{ filed articles of incorporation in m
' ‘ "' lh“.
Q Did you tell hig you !

.. @ Did you tell him you had not
| r . the SBtate of New !forﬂ A tm

| that we had.
BY THR COURT:
Q Did yeu or not tell him? A Wo..
|  BY MR, HOLBRRT:

Q Did vou tell him so? A Iuw

Q Did he have any knowledge of m
A As far as T know he di4 n“.‘ o

Q@ What was the work you hm
claim againe tee=

'm'mm: Is this !



Q You employed the qmﬁt Jultan to
owed your ocompany stmething like m ’
5 to try to locate mu wapan, ‘o ,k

Q A woman that owed the oompeny something
hood of iu.oom A Wo, ammm&A
against a man she was lm |

Q Tnoldentally it is the same
gmpyﬁhtafﬂuouhm&", eed ing!
had in court? A T would hardly W ﬂpm

Q You had her taken up before the court

supplementary proceedings? A No, sine
Objected to, | Objection ined

Q Who did vou obtain your judgment againi

e contractor named Charles Ce m e ’
. VABSERVOGRL: T ohject and m be

answer.
Objection sustained.
Exoception, |
Q You wanted this woman m



| THE COURT: T 4o not censider ¢
— _relevant to the lssue., You may find

tions with the compeny were. S
BY DRFENDANT'S COUNSEL:
Q@ You 4id hire Jullan to do some M

BY THR COURT: l . | .
Q And you vm geing to pay him for h
A Yes, i
Company? A  Yes. . 5
Q Tor the services that m hh

A That had been rendered, |

BY m."'ﬂ emm‘ o
Q You know that he -mw *ﬁ;
work and paid them mnrcmm
Objected to. lumm.

date == somewhere in there. mm
not _l‘mn.‘

Q You said to him then that the o



nation before Magistrate '&k'm m L
them printed to Mﬂy, T mean that m B
officers furnish them printed to anybody
blank drafts.) A. T cammot recall ul
or not. Q T aid not -kmwm
If the company 14% A, utwnﬁf
Q. Don't you know if you had #
40 not nun these particular qu
a form like that, of that color? t. !W
Q Check forms of the cube fupply m#,: Iraf
A. Draft forms, Q. Do you igsue them in bo
Q Tn blanks or pads? A At times ta.buip? il
pads? A Yo, sir., Q Didayou n«mu W
had some, yes, Q. DO you know how he m uﬂr
A No, T 40 not recall stvﬁlu‘ that testimony. &
Q TIf you did so u-tiry, wvas that the m A
1f T testified to 1t,
Q You 414 furnish him then with these m
call them? A Apparently, according to that %
Q You knew that Jullan was not & qu

A Yo, T 4o not kmow if he is or not,



A Ahwn N
Q You were not pretending to do a banki
the Cuba Supply W A Yo,
Q Tn the same examination in mm"
Iselin, referring to one of these m

and was returned, did not Mr. Tselin ﬁ

414 not you answer, If there had besn m- _;f
money to Julian'e ‘ 2
have patd 1ty A. T would, T am not
T will tell you anything T can.® Did
lonvotr'oonnn..‘ | i
Q Doyou recall now, »i-r the m “

have paid this draft? A . Yess L ‘
Q That is true, ien,t 1t% A Yes.
Q When the draft of this Tmperial Hotel |
seted to this office, if you had had .0
have paid it? A Yes, sir,
Q And the money was actually h.“g
have paid 1t, if you had had hwh”wr
Objected to. Objsction m |
A Yes, ®ir,
Q@ The only reason the M~

were out of funds®? A Yes,



Q hlommmmm'ﬁ
A How do T kmow there was.

Objected to omm
udumﬁagum

Q mms. 'hn you came to ”
onl.vofﬂurhﬁdthhcw
Objected to as immaterial and not p

examination.
Objection sustained,
'Q Were there any judmments against the

in 1904%

Objected to as immaterial,
Q Can you tell us now how much ”
Julian? g
Objected to as not proper
Ohjection sustained,



(((((

L &

of the testimony of the witness
printing of checks or drafts at or
Julian, and all the testimony of the y
to the receiving and presenting "' ‘.
defendant Jullan, for the reason “
show a«nptlm as to Wo ‘ oannot

Corporation Bureau, on the M
in the evidence to show that ‘lh
transacting business in ﬁn %
to comply with the banking mu
and the evidenoce MMW -
place of busines: was ﬂm ﬂA
ness in Havana, Olh- ' e :

The defendant moves %0 mnm
indiotment upon the mm :
port the count, and wmih
shows the def endant is m
lo the count for grand |

The defendant moves 0



of the check was mot entitled

sum therein specified. M
affirmatively shows that he m
coamrany and there is no cvuﬂ! ”
withdram.  Third because ﬂm is ﬂ
the dofmdunt knew that the “
erly organized or that it was m
check ing uomt business,
evidence that the Cuba Supply m
40 a checking account businesse.
of this Btate any concerm may 4o !
& check being a bill of exchange.
no evidenoce the defendant .ﬂm
not complied with the laws C ﬂﬂ



that the Cuba Supply Mmm
ing business.

Purther hecause there is no

face amount ,
W because &m is u

subjeot to check,
~ The defendant moves the W h
at thie time toutmnnﬂktlllﬂ
reason that the evidence affirmatively l
defendant in dnvu the check had a m“
‘and that there was a fund for its protecticn i
had a right to rely upon. . Rty

Becond, because there is no w“mh"

Third, for all the reasons named in qmﬁ~ wi
or to dismiss the second caunt in the indlctment, N
L - THR COURT: T will hear you, Wrs w + B
ask you to address yourself to the last motion

great many motions T consider to be, while



Wiy & B pree attusid, il

- they have shown by the ev

relevant to the issue. T d0 not
connected the defendant with the O

such a way as to allow the proof wi

ganiszation and character to stay h :
strike out from the proof all ‘VM
T will hear you now upon the main me
fourt shonuld not advise the jury to

WR. WASSNRVOOEL: T think T had b
Fonor's attention to all the facts whi
shown that on July 20 1905 the defends
ager of the Hotel Imperial to cash a ¢
the Cuba Supply Company.  That in ex

businese the check was deposited in d
and payment demanded and w;,ﬂ
returned the check. No express r
necessary as to whether this cheok was g _
Hotel Trperial had the right to assume M
In that connection T want to -ﬁ !‘ﬁf:', '
to the care, If you wish to see it, of ”
Poote reported in 17 Hun where the m
giving of the check is a distinct -




drawn by the defendant on the *

defendant hy the manager QM m
check oame back unpaid, no M
letters by him and that he m
The People take the positin that the
the moment the defendant rege:
for his bad check. We have sh
tlnt en July 13, 1908 he
check for $50 inpayment dam

returned by the bank as no ”.“ :
days thereafter, after July m h !

attention therete.

for the defendant drawn on the m "
called the defendent's attention to m,
checke were not paid, We oRll your &t
that we have shown by the witness |



m were cashed by m
on July 20th andafter July ”
checks were returnmed unpaid and
were given to the defendant, both be :
80th. Wow, whether or he had mw

e S s SRR g

eoncern, tho Cuba Supply Mmﬂ'
checks or not, if they had the m.

because m.mm»mmmu

Lrt

&

E. _ Ihhnotulmmmm'h' |
Company as the company had no mﬂ
and g0 he had notice prior o the date
check was given, and the oﬂ. Mﬂﬂ
any more checks. T do not think there %l
dispute about that. That is the position ﬁ
take with reference to tho case.

stand the theory, is that the defendant 48
orime of grand laroey because of m !

aseistant manager of the Imperial m
Cuba Supply Company to pay $50. That h



of the hotel as true, and had a
in inducing him to part with 480,

T have given a great M -‘
tion in thie case in furtherance I
but T am constrained, invier of the

WR. WASSRRVOGRL: Wil your Honor
a moment. ‘lmuuhm””‘_“
Tt particularly says no rep

THR COURT: (o«mmﬁg) t m
latitude to the prosecut lon in ﬁa

and the Public, but tuommwa
concl sion of the People's case upon the |
apply the surgery of the law of the proof. r
this evidewwe sufficient either la «-mq or

impressed with that iudgment T advise u- -.umn.
The jury rendered a verdiot of not pu.w.
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